Institute of International Relations

THESIS SUMMARY

to the Ph.D. dissertation by

Csaba Kelemen

The Europe-pillar of the Hungarian foreign policy

Consultant:

Dr. Jenő Horváth Associate professor

© Csaba Kelemen

Table of contents

1	Definition of the research problem	
2	Research methods	
2.	2.1 The conceptual and structural layout of the dissertation	
3	Research findings	9
3.	3.1 Conclusions	9
	3.1.1 The process of transformation and its role	
	3.1.2 The Europeanization of foreign policy	
	3.1.3 The Antall and Horn governments	
4	Bibliography	
5	Publications	

1 Definition of the research problem

The Hungarian foreign policy is a success story of the past 19-20 years, so of the period of the system change and it applies to the European policy as well. However, the accession of Hungary, the debates, the motives behind it do not make it so obvious that socialist and conservative politicians would have agreed upon the important question that determined the country's fate for decades.

The target of the dissertation is to prove that the Hungarian integration policy was a linear process, so in case a country decided to ask for admission to the European Union, it led automatically to the membership, the government had no impact on the process, could not accelerate or influence it in any way. It is also important to examine that in the European policy during the two governmental periods (Antall- and Horn-governments) the continuity¹ was not always that dominant than many would think, and this can be traced back to the ideological differences between the two political sides. This and other factors weakened the accuracy of the Hungarian opinion many times. In a country where everything and also its opposite are questionable, it is now a strange statement.

For Hungary the basic question was certainly not whether it has to join the European Communities or to remain out of it. For a small, open country – and this statement in economic terms is more obvious and less disputable – there was no other choice. The debate referred rather to what kind of conditions Hungary has to fulfil, how governments can influence these conditions and what kind of rights the membership should be accompanied by. With the membership Hungary became a part of the global political arena, therefore its responsibility became much greater than it was earlier.

My motivation to write this dissertation was first the person of József Antall whose ideas concerning the integration process had an impressing influence on the political class and introduced a new way of thinking in Hungary. Antall has not seen any other choice for the east-central European region either in the short or in the long run – neither in economic nor in moral aspects. He considered the membership as a compensation for those difficulties that Hungary had to bear in the past 60 years. According to the intention of the government a western oriented foreign policy was launched that - taking into account the possibilities - tried to maintain good political and economic relations with the Soviet Union as well.

¹ Similarity and continuity do not cover the same definition.

The other motivation was the neglect of this territory of science. Many articles have already dealt with this topic, mostly in economic terms, some books were also written, but a general work was not yet born. The cause might be that the European policy was not affected by sharp debates, therefore no one thought to be compelled to write such an extensive work. Concerning the neighbouring country- and Hungarian minorities abroad policy a dissertation has been already written.

Hungary joined the EU on 1st May 2004, so the common efforts were successful, but the process was not elaborated on analytical level. Books, articles, analysis are missing that examine this topic empirically. Despite the fact of the accession low priority was dedicated to the analysis of the European policy in the research work concerning the EU. Therefore there is quite few literature available so in most cases I had to rely on political interviews, newspaper articles, documents of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs during the drawing up of the dissertation. It is also to be underlined that the developments of the 1980s, 1990s, the deepening of the integration into the European Communities brought new problems to light. The creation of the single market then the Treaty on the European Union reshaped the organization significantly, so the relationship between the candidate countries and the EU changed as well.

Furthermore, I examine in the dissertation the relationship between Hungary and the EC and those agreements that were concluded during the period, because there is some contradiction in the assessment of these. It is also important to analyze the order between the foreign policy goals of the two governments. It can give an answer to some open questions. The analysis of the parts affects the totality and the analysis of the totality affects the parts, so it is relevant to examine this field.

Hence what motivated me to work on this topic is the demand to evaluate the period after 1994. It was interesting to see how the thinking of one political class has changed and how it tried to realize different goals with methods brought from the past.

2 **Research methods**

During the analysis of the topic of the dissertation I regarded the multidisciplinary approach as determinative, so I used the outcomes of the international law, the international economics and the theory of international relations. The research aims the analysis of the Hungarian European policy. I mean by it within this framework the Hungarian foreign political thinking concerning the European Communities/European Union and the political steps that showed themselves in concrete actions. I do not intend to analyze the bilateral relationships with European (first of all western-European) countries. It is certainly important to mention in this correlation that international relations on community level are not unprecedented but to examine them would lead to far.

The timely scope of the research is limited to a period of eight years after the system change (1990-1998), with the necessary history to understand it, thus the introduction of the Europeanization process and the Hungary-EC relations. Because of the limits in size and content some important definitions, correlations will not be explained. In order not to go off the topic of the dissertation, some questions will only be slightly discussed or rather the empirical results of other authors are accepted. It specially applies to the neighbouring country- and Hungarian Minorities abroad policy because they are not part of the dissertation. The object of the examination is a fixed period of the Hungarian history with the aim of comparison.

Research questions:

- could the political class really not have any influence on the accession process
- how the Europe-image of the different elites was formed
- how internal and external factors influenced the political thinking of this era
- what kind of conclusions can be drawn generally and concretely

The methods used in the dissertation are the elaboration of the scientific literature, the presentation of the conclusions of different authors, the use and analysis of relevant documents, international treaties, legal actions, declarations as primary sources. I held it important to interview those actors who were directly or indirectly involved in the foreign policy decision making.

Key question of the elaboration of the foreign and European policy is the availability of the different sources. Only a little part of the documents of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs belongs to this circle. The detailed documentation of governmental activity is rather characteristic to the Antall-government (the so called Current Policy series). After 1994 this source is not available in that extension. With the help of these sources the analyzed era cannot be retraced completely. Therefore secondary sources played a great role as well during my work. Hence I relied on the findings and conclusions of the analyzing and evaluating press. The precise examination of the Parliament Almanac was of great importance and also the Hungarian Political Yearbook was very helpful for me too. I strive to use both the evaluation and analytical approach in the dissertation and try to provide as many information as possible. The reason of the combined method is that a descriptive presentation of this topic was missing from the scientific literature.

2.1 The conceptual and structural layout of the dissertation

The first chapter of the dissertation is about the goals, the tools to achieve them, the object of the research and the presentation of the thesis. The chapter discusses the theoretical framework that is needed to elaborate the topic. Here I determine all the definitions that are inevitable in order to understand the whole dissertation (European policy, integration, Europeanization). Moreover I analyze the Hungarian foreign policy from a constructivist point of view and the conceptions regarding the integration process in the 1980's. Hungary is affected by many external influences which it has to take notice of. In small countries the foreign policy cannot be independent from these processes and unlike to great powers it can follow autonomous goals only in a tighter lane. Therefore a theoretical overview and a methodological introduction are needed and unavoidable. I discuss here the statements of the theory of international relations that try to explain the operation of the international order. How the Hungarian foreign policy has reacted to the changes in this system, how this movement changed the choice of the foreign policy at the end of the 1980's, how it affected its characteristics, how it helped its autonomy or made it reactive. In this chapter I present the change in the system of conditions of the foreign policy and I try to give a new explanation concerning the foreign political aspects of the transition process focusing on unique features of the Hungary-EC relations. I deal with the political party programs relating European policy, taking into account that since then every important party have already had the right to govern. In this respect it is quite interesting which political party thought Hungary to be a middle sized or a small European country because from this statement we can conclude to a reactive or proactive foreign policy strategy. The other side of it is the general opinion of the foreign countries, the reputation of parties in Western Europe. Which of the political parties did they think will be able to realise its program, among others the integration policy, who did they trust, what was the attitude of the EC to the Hungarian parties, namely who did they look at as a cooperative partner and who did they think can put the integration process in danger.

It is worth to review briefly the historical dimensions of the relations before the transition process, too. Namely, there was no institutional relation between Hungary and the European Community until 1988. The EC did not exist for the post-socialist countries. Of course, not in

an economic way of understanding, because CMEA (*Council for Mutual Economic Assistance*) countries had economic relations with Western countries to a certain extent, but there were no diplomatic relations either between Brussels and Moscow or between the single countries and the EC. In the second part of the 1980s the strategic changes in Hungary allowed the creation of the first relation in September 1988 which conducted to the birth of the PHARE programme after the 'annus mirabilis'. Its significance was invaluable for Hungary and also meant an intense trust by the EC. In this chapter I deal with the foreign policy of the transition and also with the Hungarian-EC relationship.

In the second and third chapter I analyse the conceptions that were used by the first two governments of the transition to start the integration preparations with, the programmes they elaborated and the coherence in pursuing them. The readiness to the reception of the Hungarian demands by the Community then is also not marginal form this point of view. The given political situation, including the relation between government and opposition, the functioning of the administration, the governmental structure had all leading influence on the role a country could play in the integration process.

The programme of the Antall-government in the frames of the whole government programme emphasized the elaboration of the part dealing with foreign policy. (Although everyone knew that József Antall propagated a shift of orientation instead of the change of the regime, he admitted in some way the process of opening the foreign policy which was started in the last years of the communist regime.) The shift of orientation propagated by Antall obviously indicated that Hungary would emphasize the development towards the Western, mainly the West-European relations instead of the former soviet-dominated ones. The programme of the government tended basically to the West-European integration from its economical side, even greater part of the documentation was given to it. However, the foreign political base was mainly driven by ideological conceptions. It was a common argument that foreign policy had not passed the foreign political ideas of the last government before the transition. The accusation could sound right because the previous (communist) regime had already started the process of opening towards the West and tended to be accepted by the West.

The government programme titled "the programme of the national reform" clearly put into shape the commitment to the integration of the Antall-government. However, it emphasized the priority of the nation contrary to internationalism. "The Republic of Hungary is following an independent foreign policy based on the priority of national interests, with the aim of completely restoring our national sovereignty. We wish to express and achieve our national interests in accordance with the European interests and values and international realities.². In the frames of the change of the regime, and on new basis, we intend to establish and sustain a balanced international relationship system taking into consideration the new requirements and possibilities arising from the changed international situation." This quote can be considered exemplary also to the period between 1990 and 1994, as it defined vigorously the ranking among the ideas of the foreign policy and laid down the stressed points up front.

Henceforth, I analyse the integration policy of the Horn-government: present the ideology of the government and of the parties standing behind it, the tasks derived from the government's programme, their implementation, the relation of the governmental conceptions among each other, and the international situation which defined the external acting frames of the Hungarian foreign policy. The well-expressed aim of the Horn-government was (similarly to Antall-government) to continue the Euro-Atlantic integration and to prepare for the accession negotiations. I enter into details concerning the international judgement of the government, the expectations put up for a post-communist political power in the western political world. These questions involuntarily suggest the possibility of a new analytical aspect, namely: for whom Hungary is creating its foreign policy. Hungary represents its own interests being also concerned about the neighbouring countries' sensitivity or follows a foreign diplomatic activity thus it shows the smallest level of activity without the intention of enforcing its interests. I analyse the correspondence between neighbour-policy and European integration in the case of both governments.

In the frames of the dissertation it is inevitable to analyse the steps of actors especially on European level which Hungary has little impact on, due to the fact that the changes and the shift of paradigm (László Kiss J.) in the international politics and in the international system Europe and the European Community had to create and rearticulate its place, role, and scope for action and last but not least its foreign political concept. It became the European Community's basic role to contribute with the help of its own means to the liquidation of the divided continent. Although, it is known from the history of the integration process in the 1990s that the organization gradually stepped back from its own promises which were given to the East-Central-European countries and put the aspirant countries into doubts. Of course in such circumstances even Hungary had difficulties with elaborating its foreign policy: the country did not know what to react to. Because of this it is reasonable to look at the place and

 ² ("The programme of the national reform", The first three years of the republic, Budapest, September 1990, p. 177.)

role of the historical mission of the European integration together with the European development and also in the light of the last decades of the Hungarian development.

3 Research findings

In 1990, Hungary totally changed its political and economic system, with the change of the regime such foreign political changes were launched which had been hard to imagine before. Hungary's dependence system was transformed, the process of approaching of those West-European organizations which were seen as the pledge of Hungary's development started. The scope for action of the foreign policy had been changed, and the biggest stress in it was given to the European policy.

The dissertation is based on several hypotheses. One of them is that the intention of accession to the West-European systems of alliance, to the European Community in first place was not a question of the Hungarian government from the very first moment of the decision and from its approval by the EU, but it was a predefined road-map which could not be practically affected by the aspirants. The second assumption was that in the *policy concerning Europe* of the two following governments, continuity did not dominate in every case. The third hypothesis said that there were such differences in the image created about Europe which basically determined the appearance towards Europe and had significant effects on the 'Europeanization' of the foreign policy.

3.1 Conclusions

The second above mentioned assumption can only partly be proved, hence a lot of brief *declarations* of politicians had to be analysed which can help to evolve the essential differences between the two governments. From the policy of the governments several conclusions can be drawn concerning the European policy.

One of the implications is that there was no difference between the governments concerning the goal of the European policy. Nevertheless, there was significant difference concerning the principles of the European policy as an instrument that can be used in the interest of the other two foreign policy objectives. There was an additional difference regarding the Europe-image, namely the identity. From this point of view, two confronting identities can be distinguished from the documents of the era. One of them is a conservative steam belonging to the western direction in its principles and practice and spending the first four years after the transition under government authorisation. The other is the socialist

political elite which always aproached the western organizations from a material point of view. Actually, it embodied not a community of values but the by them so ambitioned anchor of modernization.

The analysis of the 1980s and 1990s deserves an accentuated attention because it was in this period that the triple system of goals was set in the foreign policy, its bases were laid down in these years, and these were accepted later by the following governments without exception. The first governmental period brought along the shaping up of the frames, while the second four years were spent with the redefinition of the balance among the objectives and filling them with content while still keeping the frames. After the change of the regime Europe became the most essential direction in geopolitical and economic sense for the Hungarian foreign policy. This is a significant change compared to the former foreign policy practice, and the role of the pragmatists of the communist elite has also to be mentioned besides the politicians of the transformation.

During the research it also turned out that the foreign policy programmes of the opposition groups formed in the 1980s, and also of the parties evolved from them did not contain significant differences. The writers of the programmes were interested in finding straight answers to the most vital problems of the country. Therefore the programmes brought the necessity of the economic turn into the foreground, so they all made their propositions to the establishment of closer relations with the western organisations of integration. Neutrality as possible (or impossible) option was common talk only for a short term.

3.1.1 The process of transformation and its role

The transformation period which in every possible way reshaped the ruling circumstances in Hungary, has been interpreted in many ways. Some people lay emphasis on the internal causes and highlight the role of the opposition. The ones who took part in this process share of course the above opinion though they never denied the important role of the international factors in the transition. On the other hand there are some who think external factors had greater influence on the transition process of Eastern and Central European countries, and that internal factors were rather consequences than accompanying factors. To make justice between these two points of view is not simple - one might wait for an objective statement. One can state for sure though that either without internal or external factors the political change could not have been achieved. The Hungarian transformation became a part of an unforeseeable and unprecedented international historical change and in this respect all the above theories are of the same opinion.

3.1.2 The Europeanization of foreign policy

There was a huge difference regarding the motivations of the Europeanization process. The approach of conservatives and liberals could always be traced back on the idea of sovereignty. Consequently they considered the European Community not just as an economical but a spiritual entity as well. The socialists highlighted the EC's financial capability by which financial support of countries that lack sufficient capital could be possible. It was perceivable from the beginning that the growth of state dept was the major factor that led the Hungarian foreign policy towards the West in the 1980's. And it was not by chance that the foreign policy of socialists/social democrats was based in first place on financial issues.

In the 1990's a considerably long debate evolved about the heritage of Hungarian foreign policy. I definitely share the opinion that we cannot talk about sovereignty of Hungarian foreign policy before 1990 at all. This could not be offset by some autonomous decisions as these were made in favour of ensuring Hungary's solvency (i.e. joining IMF) and could not be considered as sovereign efforts of Hungary's foreign policy. The state can be admitted that such autonomous steps would not have been taken if Hungary had not floated to the edge of bankruptcy.

3.1.3 The Antall and Horn governments

At the time of transformation the country faced enormous challenges. Some of these (among them foreign policy) were successfully tackled by the first government. The government programme laid great emphasis on the elaboration of foreign policy principles. The Antall-government announced more like an orientation change rather than a total transformation thus in some respect it accepted some of the efforts of the previous communist government. At the same time it also aimed to radically break up with the routine which could be regarded as constant conformation towards other countries. The orientation change obviously showed that Hungary intends to lay emphasis on developing Western, first of all Western-European relations.

The motivations of the Horn-government totally differed from that of the conservative government. After occupying office the Horn-government changed the balance between the

three foreign policy objectives and emphasized – at the expense of nationality policy – neighbourhood policy and integration. One could realize that this change did not only mean a shift between the three objectives but it meant a significant conceptional change against the former government's foreign policy principals. While the conservative government handled all three objectives autonomously, the Horn-government derived the success of one priority from another thus it interpreted the neighbourhood policy as a means towards a successful integration policy, connecting both very strongly to each other.

Several analysts, who though acknowledge the commitment of the Antall-government towards democracy, see some unevenness when judging that era's achievements. Among them Pál Dunay who criticized in more articles³ the governmental steps regarding neighbouring country- and Hungarian minorities abroad policy. Undoubted fact is that the coming into the foreground of the nationality policy could be considered a new phenomenon in Hungary - this goal was not plead by former foreign policies at all. Novelty was again the change of the point of reference which previously was the Soviet Union and afterwards was replaced by Europe. For this reason some of the criticism is not well established.

There is a foreign policy that pursues European standards and set new goals, thus neglecting this Europeanization process might lead us to wrong conclusions. It was impossible to look at foreign policy from the same point of view as previously when autonomous goals could not be set by the country. From this wrong starting point several critics have arisen regarding the EU accession agreement of Hungary which despite of all its imperfections meant an important improvement in the Hungarian-EC relationship.

The EU accession agreement was the first major step on the side of the EU towards Eastern and Central European countries giving them the hope of being equally treated which was part of the Europeanization process. The agreement was more important for institutionalizing the relationship between the EC and Hungary than for its economical references. The EU accession agreement and the application request to the EC were the Antall-government's most important achievements in the Europe-policy. The agreement was several times criticized by the Horn-government, initiating also its amendment but finally it did not come that far. As further achievement can be regarded, that the Antall-government was able to obtain some elementary, but specific conditions from the Community. This did

³ Vö.: Dunay Pál: Kis külpolitikai mitológia - avagy a prioritás főnévnek nincs ugyan többes száma, de a magyar külpolitikának vannak fő cselekvési irányai, in: Zsinka László (szerk.): Külpolitika és modernizáció, Budapest, 1996, BIGIS - Pew Alapítvány, 19-41.o.

not happen during of the former enlargements.

The Horn-government achieved more notable results in its EU relationship. Firstly it managed to permanently hold the enlargement on the agenda, reminding the representatives of the Community of this important issue. The second one is Agenda 2000 and the competition of the accompanying survey, finally the submission of the accession request in 1998. With the submission of the accession request an era was closed which could be called as the first phase of the passive Europe-policy. This phase started in 1990, from the establishment of the first government. The second phase from 1998 is out of the scope of this dissertation.

Both governments had to face the question of enlargement vs. deepening of the EU and both of them tried to give nearly the same answers. When in 1990 more possibilities arise to accelerate the accession procedure as alternatives to the EU accession, the government strictly supported the one alternative. Joining EFTA did not get enough support from the government, nor did the participation in the Community's second and third pillar. A free trade agreement with the USA and the establishment of an Eastern and Central European integration seemed also totally unreal. The one and only acceptable priority was the Western integration. Any suggestions that could lead the debate in a wrong direction were considered by both **governments as a detour.**

The major actors of the Hungarian foreign policy draw up their picture about Europe from a totally different point of view. Conservatives considered the European and North-Atlantic integration as a part of a 1000 year tradition, socialists contrarily as a modernization force. The "Europe picture" of the socialists suggested that the role of the Community in Hungary has only financial aspects and the most important task is to adopt all the prerequisites of the EC in order to be able to obtain financial recourses. The conservatives regarded the integration process as a two-way interaction where both players had to adjust themselves to the other. The major challenge of the Hungarian Europe-policy can be discovered in the different approach of the political opponents.

Hungary has come a long way from KGST to participating in European integration. Meanwhile, the conceptions, goals and problems to be solved with regard to foreign policy changed a lot as well. Among the three foreign policy objectives the most significant influence on the European policy by an independent body had definitely the EU itself, its messages have shaped remarkable our integration strategy but under both governments one intention remained clear: a full membership in the EU.

4 Bibliography

Books

- ÁGH, Attila (2004): A magyar esély: Magyarország Európa-politikája, Budapest, Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó
- A Magyar Köztársaság Kormányának Programja: 1994-1998, A Horn-kormány programja, Budapest, 1994. július 8.
- A Magyar Szocialista Munkáspárt Központi Bizottságának 1989. évi jegyzőkönyvei 1-2. (szerk.) S. Kosztricz Anna, Lakos János, Némethné Vágyi Karola, Soós László, T. Varga György, Budapest, Magyar Országos Levéltár, 1993
- *A Nemzeti Megújhodás Programja* 1990-1994, Az Antall-kormány kormányprogramja, Miniszterelnöki Hivatal, Budapest, 1990. május 23.
- ANTALL, József: Modell és Valóság I-II. (1993), Athenaeum
- Antall József Országgyűlési beszédei (1994), Athenaeum
- BALÁZS, Péter MARESCEAU, Marc (szerk.) (1995): Az Európai Megállapodás végrehajtásának jogi és elméleti kérdései, OMIKK, Budapest
- BALÁZS, Péter (1996): Az Európai Unió külkapcsolatai és Magyarország, Budapest, Közgazdasági és Jogi Könyvkiadó
- BALÁZS, Péter (2002): Az Európai Unió külpolitikája és a magyar-EU kapcsolatok fejlődése, Budapest, KJK-Kerszöv
- BALÁZS, Péter (2001): Európai egyesülés és modernizáció, Osiris Kiadó, Budapest
- CROCKATT, Richard (1993): Theories of Stability and the end of the Cold War in: From Cold War to Collapse: Theory and World Politics in the 1980s (szerk. Mike Bowker, Robin Brown), Cambridge University Press
- CSIZMADIA, Ervin (2001): Diskurzus és diktatúra, A magyar értelmiség vitái Nyugat-Európáról a késő Kádár-rendszerben, Századvég kiadó
- DEBRECZENI, József (1998): A miniszterelnök, Osiris Budapest
- DUFF, Andrew, PINDER, John, PRYCE, Roy (1994): Maastricht and beyond: building the European Union, Routledge, New York
- FÜLÖP, Mihály SIPOS, Péter (1998): Magyarország külpolitikája a XX. században, Aula Kiadó
- GAZDAG, Ferenc KISS, J., László (szerk.) (2004): Magyar külpolitika a 20. században, Budapest, Zrínyi kiadó
- GOWER, Jackie (1993): EC relations with Central and Eastern Europe, Juliet Lodge (ed), The European Community and the Challenge of the Future, London: Pinter Publishers
- GRANASZTÓI, György (2006): Felvetések az elmúlt másfél évtized magyar külpolitikai gondolkodásával kapcsolatban, in: Magyar külpolitikai gondolkodás a 20. században, (Szerk. Pritz Pál, Sipos Balázs és Zeidler Miklós), Magyar Történelmi Társulat, Budapest
- HORN, Gyula (1999): Azok a kilencvenes évek..., Kossuth
- HORN, Gyula (1994): Cölöpök, Budapest, Móra
- HORVÁTH, István (1990): Európa megkísértése, Láng Kiadó, Budapest
- HORVÁTH, Jenő (2003): Az európai integráció története 1945-2002, Osiris Kiadó, Budapest
- HORVÁTH, Jenő (2005): Világpolitikai lexikon 1945-2005, Osiris Kiadó, Budapest
- IZIKNÉ, Hedri Gabriella (1988): Egy megállapodás története, Magyarország és az Európai Közösség, Kossuth Könyvkiadó, Budapest

- JÁNOSI, György (szerk.) (1994): *Kihívások és válaszok 1994-1998*, A Magyar Szocialista Párt választási programja
- JEPPERSON, Ronald L., WENDT, Alexander and KATZENSTEIN, Peter J.: Norms, Identity, and Culture in National Security, in: Katzenstein, Peter J. (ed.): The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics, Columbia University Press, 33-78.0.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (2002): A magyar külpolitika fő irányai a század utolsó évtizedében, in: Pritz Pál (szerk.) Sipos Balázs és Zeidler Miklós közreműködésével: Magyarország helye a 20. századi Európában, Tanulmányok, Magyar Történelmi Társulat, Budapest
- JESZENSZKY, Géza, KAPRONCZAY, Károly, BIERNACZKY, Szilárd (szerk.) (2006): A politikus Antall József Az európai úton, Mundus
- KISS, J. László (szerk.) (2003): Globalizálódás és külpolitika. Nemzetközi rendszer és elmélet az ezredfordulón, Budapest, Teleki László Alapítvány
- KISS, J. László (2009): Változó utak a külpolitika elméletében és elemzésében, Osiris Kiadó
- KURTÁN, Sándor, SÁNDOR, Péter, VASS, László (szerk.): Magyarország politikai évkönyve 1991-1999, Aula, DVD-ROM
- MAYHEW, Alan (1998): Recreating Europe: The European Union's Policy towards Central and Eastern Europe, Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press
- NUGENT, Neill (ed.) (2004): European Union enlargement, Palgrave-Macmillan
- LIPPERT, Barbara (1996): Europabilder das politische Umfeld 1989-1995, 25-37.o., in: Susanne Klunkert, Barbara Lippert, Heinrich Schneider: Europabilder in Mittel- und Osteuropa, Neue Herausforderungen für die politische Bildung, Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, Bonn
- LIPPERT, Barbara SCHNEIDER, Heinrich (Hrsg.) (1995): Monitoring Association and Beyond: The European Union and the Visegrád States, Bonn
- PALÁNKAI, Tibor (2004): Az európai integráció gazdaságtana, Budapest, Aula
- PINDER, John (1991): The European Community and Eastern Europe, London Pinter Publishers
- PINDER, John (1991): European community, the building of a union, Oxford University Press, Oxford/New York
- RIPP, Zoltán (2006): Rendszerváltás Magyarországon 1987-1990, Napvilág Kiadó
- RISSE, Thomas (2004): Social constructivism and European integration, in: European Integration Theory, A. WIENER & T. DIEZ (eds): Oxford University Press, 159 176.0.
- ZELLNER, Wolfgang DUNAY, Pál (1998): Ungarns Außenpolitik 1990-1997, Zwischen Westintegration, Nachbarschafts- und Minderheitenpolitik, Baden-Baden

Journals

- A Kelet Nyugatjából a Nyugat Keletje, A 90-es évek magyar külpolitikájáról Balogh Andrással beszélget Szalai Zoltán, Társadalmi szemle, 1998/8-9. 130-136.o.
- *A magyar diplomácia európaiságának gyökerei*, Bede Rita interjúja dr. Balogh Andrással, Társadalmi Szemle, 1995, 8-9. szám, 29-36.o.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1993): A magyar külpolitika dilemmái, Magyar Szemle, 2 (1993/4): 360-370.o.

BALÁZS, Péter (1988): Az Európai Közösség kívülálló országokhoz fűződő kapcsolatainak jellege és rendszerezése, Külpolitika, 1988/4., 57-89.0.

BALÁZS, Péter (1991): Miként bővíthető az EK? Európa Fórum, I. évf. 1. szám, 5-17.0.

- BALOGH, András (1994): Az európai integráció határai, Európai Szemle, 5. évf. 4. sz., 6-10.0.
- DAVIDSON, Ian (1990): *The search for a new order in Europe*, International Affairs, 1990/2 DUNAY, Pál (2004): *Az átmenet magyar külpolitikája*, Mozgó Világ, 2004/2
- DUNAY, Pál (2004): *Hungarian Foreign Policy in the Era of Transition*, 1990-2004, Foreign Policy Review 2004/1
- GADDIS, John Lewis (1992/93): International Relations Theory and the End of the Cold War, International Security, Vol. 17, No. 3/1992/93, 5-58.0.
- GATI, Charles (1990/1991): *East-Central Europe: The morning after*, Foreign Affairs, Winter, 129-145.o.
- HIX, Simon GOETZ, Klaus H. (2000): *Europeanized Politics? European Integration and National Political Systems*, West European Politics, Vol. 23., No. 4., 1–26. o.
- HORN, Gyula (1989): Változó világ, változó Európa, változó magyar külpolitika, Külpolitika, 1989/4
- HORN, Gyula (1990): Helyünk a térségben, Európai Szemle, 1. évf. 1. sz., 47-51.o.
- INOTAI, András (1993): A Nyugat és a közép- és kelet-európai átalakulás, Közgazdasági szemle, XL. évfolyam, 1993. 11. sz. 917-938.o.
- INOTAI, András (1992): Assoziierungsabkommen: Schritte zur Reintegration ostmitteleuropäischer Staaten, Integration, 15. Jg. Nr. 1/1992, 25-35.0.
- INOTAI, András (1994): Die Beziehungen zwischen der EU und den assoziierten Staaten Mittel- und Osteuropas, Europäische Rundschau, 22. Jg., Nr. 3/1994, 19-35.0.
- INOTAI, András (1994): *The System of Criteria for Hungary's Accession to the European Union*, Budapest, (Institute for World Economics of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Trends in World Economy, No. 76.
- IZIKNÉ, Hedri Gabriella (1992): Az Európai Közösséggel aláírt társulási megállapodás és a magyar kibontakozás, Közgazdasági szemle, XXXIX. évfolyam, 1992. 7-8. sz., 737-746.0.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1997): Az euroatlanti gondolat történelmi gyökerei Magyarországon, Külpolitika, 1997/1, 17-29.0.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (2003): Antall József, a külpolitikus, Valóság, 2003. december
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (2005): Antall József, a nemzetpolitikus, Valóság, 2005. január
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1997): Európa közepén vagy Európa peremén? A közép-európaiak és Nyugat-Európa, Európai Szemle, 8. évf. 1997/3, 77-85.0.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1991): Európa válaszút előtt, Európai Szemle, 2. évf. 3. sz. 3-12.0.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1990): Külpolitika az új korszakban, Európai Szemle, 1. évf. 1. sz. 54-56.0.
- KISS, J. László (1989): Európától Európáig: a magyar külpolitika újraeurópaizálódása, Külpolitika, 1989/3, 3-23.0.
- KISS, J. László (1993): Historischer Rahmen und Gegenwart ungarischer Außenpolitik, Osteuropa, 43. Jg. Nr. 6/1993, 563-579.0.
- KISS, J. László (2004): "The Restatement of Hungarian Foreign Policy from Kádárism to EU Membership", Foreign Policy Review, Vol. 2, No.1 (2004), 33-86.0.
- MARTONYI, János (1995): A rendszerváltás külgazdasági és külpolitikai dilemmái, Magyar Szemle, IV. évf. 6. szám, 1995. Június
- MARTONYI, János (1993): *Közép-Európa és az európai integráció*, Európai Szemle, 4. évf. 1. szám., 3-23.0.
- MARTONYI, János (1994): Mitteleuropa und die europäische Integration, Europäische Rundschau, 1994/tél, 61-79.o.
- MARTONYI, János (1992): *The EC and Central Europe*, The New Hungarian Quarterly, Vol. 33. No. 128/1992, 56-75.0.

- MEISZTER, Dávid DUNAY, Pál (1994): Sikerek és kudarcok között, Magyar külpolitika 1990-1994, Társadalmi Szemle, XLIX. évfolyam, 94/8-9, 35-52.0.
- Mérlegen a magyar külpolitika, Kovács László szocialista képviselővel, az Országgyűlés külügyi bizottságának elnökével beszélget Bede Rita, Társadalmi Szemle, XLVII. évfolyam, 93/12, 18-23.0.
- PATAKI, István (1997): Közeledésünk az Európai Unióhoz, Magyarország Politikai Évkönyve 1997, (Szerk.): Kurtán Sándor, Sándor Péter, Vass László. Demokrácia Kutatások Magyar Központja Alapítvány 1997
- RICHTER, Sándor (1995): Előnyök, hátrányok, dilemmák. Gondolatok a közép-kelet-európai országok csatlakozásáról az Európai Unióhoz, Külgazdaság, 1995/12
- SOMOGYI, Ferenc: Az euroatlanti integrálódás útján, Magyarország Politikai Évkönyve 1997, (Szerk.): Kurtán Sándor, Sándor Péter, Vass László. Demokrácia Kutatások Magyar Központja Alapítvány 1997
- SOMOGYI, Ferenc (1997): Euroatlanti integráció: folyamatosság és konszenzus a magyar külpolitikában, Külpolitika, 1997/1, 3-16.0.
- SZŰRÖS, Mátyás (1985): A magyar külpolitika a nyolcvanas évek közepén, Külpolitika, 1985/4.
- ZELLNER, Wolfgang DUNAY, Pál (1995): Die Außenpolitik Ungarns im ersten Jahr der Regierung Horn, Südosteuropa, 44. Jg. Nr. 11-12/1995, 1-27.0.

Studies dissertations, conference materials, periodicals

- BAJTAY, Péter (2001): Integráció és külkapcsolatok: Az Európai Unió külkapcsolati rendszere, Ph.D értekezés, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Tanszék, Budapesti Közgazdaságtudományi és Államigazgatási Egyetem, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Program
- BALOGH, András (2000): *Hungarian National and European Identity*, "National vs. European Identity" Workshop, Prága, 2000. december 6-8.
- BECSEY, Zsolt (2001): Az Európai Unió keleti bővítésének előnyei az Európai Unió számára, Ph.D értekezés, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Tanszék, Budapesti Közgazdaságtudományi és Államigazgatási Egyetem, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Program
- Charter of Paris for a New Europe, Párizs, 1990. november 19-21.
- DUNAY, Pál (2000): A Magyar Köztársaság szomszédságpolitikája a külpolitika rendszerében 1990-1999, Ph.D. értekezés, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Tanszék, Budapesti Közgazdaságtudományi és Államigazgatási Egyetem, Nemzetközi Kapcsolatok Program
- DUNAY, Pál (1996): Kis külpolitikai mitológia avagy a prioritás főnévnek nincs ugyan többes száma, de a magyar külpolitikának vannak fő cselekvési irányai, in: ZSINKA, László (szerk.): Külpolitika és modernizáció, Budapest, BIGIS - Pew Alapítvány, 19-41.0.
- GORDOS, Árpád (1992): Interactions between political and economic relations Association agreements between the European Community and the countries of Visegrád, in: Euroation conference on political dialogue between the European Community and the countries of Visegrád - the future of Central Europe (Budapest, 1992. november 5-7.)
- GOTTFRIED, Péter (1993): *The association agreements in practice*, Euration Conference on "The relations between the EC and the countries of Central Europe – Professional percepctions", (Budapest, 1993. november 4-6.)

HARGITA, Ágnes (1993): Some actual aspects of Hungarian EC relations, Euration Conference on "The relations between the EC and the countries of Central Europe – Professional percepctions", (Budapest, 1993. november 4-6.)

JESZENSZKY, Géza (1989): Semlegesség, vagy közvetítői szerep, Új Fórum, 1989. július 14.

- KISS, László J. (1993): *Development of some EC-images in Hungary*, Euration Conference on "The relations between the EC and the countries of Central Europe – Professional percepctions", (Budapest, 1993. november 4-6.)
- KISS, Tibor (1992): *The experience yet with the political dialogue*, in: Euroation conference on political dialogue between the European Community and the countries of Visegrád - the future of Central Europe (Budapest, 1992. november 5-7.)
- KÖSEMEN, Orkan (2005): Institutioneller Wandel und europäischeIntegration: Der Einfluß des EUBeitrittsprozesses auf die Politikgestaltung in Polen, Tschechien und Ungarn, Dissertation, Institut für Sozialwissenschaften, Humboldt-Universität
- KNIRSCH, Peter (1993): Determinanten für die EG-Aussenpolitik gegenüber Polen und Ungarn sowie gegenüber der Visegrád-Staaten, Euration Conference on "The relations between the EC and the countries of Central Europe – Professional percepctions", (Budapest, 1993. november 4-6.)
- NIKLASSON, Tomas (2006): Regime stability and foreign policy change, Interaction between Domestic and Foreign Policy in Hungary 1956-1994, Lund Political Studies 143, Department of Political Science, Lund University
- Szabad Demokraták Szövetsége: Fordulat, Biztonság, Felemelkedés, Választási Program, 1994

Others

- A magyar kormány nyilatkozata, Sajtóközlemény, Magyar Külügyminisztérium, 1991/28, 1991. december 27.
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1993): Romania and Hungary in post-communist Europe (előadás Bukarestben, 1993. szeptember 16.), Current Policy, No. 23/1993
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1991): *Hungary and the North Atlantic Cooperation Council*, Current Policy, No. 45/1991
- JESZENSZKY, Géza (1990): *Hungary: Democracy Reborn* (A Canberra-i Egyetemen elmondott beszéd, 1990. november 29., Current Policy, No. 1/1991, 3.o.
- Jeszenszky Géza külügyminiszter előadói beszéde a nagyköveti konferencián, 1990, Kézirat

JESZENSZKY, Géza (1992): "Nothing quiet on the eastern front", Current Policy 15/1992

JESZENSZKY, Géza (1992): "Unwilling to take no for an answer", Current Policy 16/1992

- KATONA, Tamás: European Integration and the states of Eastern Central Europe, az Európai Biztonság jövője elnevezésű nemzetközi konferencián elhangzott beszéd, 1991. április 25., Current Policy No. 20/1991
- KATONA, Tamás: European Integration: The focal point of Hungary's foreign policy, 1991. április 27., Current Policy No. 21/1991
- KATONA, Tamás: *Hungary's thoughts on the New European Order*, 1991. április 22., Current Policy, No. 19/1991, 3.o.
- Kormányprogram (1994), a Horn-kormány programja
- Memorandum der ungarischen Regierung zur Integration der assoziierten mittel- und osteuropäischen Staaten in die Europäische Union, Horn Gyula által az Esseni Európai Tanács ülésére benyújtott memorandum, in: Internationale Politik, 1995/1,

5 Publications

Világpolitikai lexikon, 1945-2005 / (ed.) Horváth Jenő: (szerzők: Kelemen Csaba et al.) – Budapest, Osiris, 2005

Kelemen Csaba: Egy sikeres Európa-politika alapjai, Grotius, 2008

Kelemen Csaba, Kelemen Gábor: *Polgári körök - társadalmi mozgolódás és mozgalmárkodás*, Magyarország politikai évkönyve, Demokrácia Kutatások Magyar Központja Alapítvány, 2005

Kelemen Csaba: *Az infokommunikációs szektor és a tudásgazdaság szerepe a Lisszaboni Stratégia céljainak megvalósításában*, Társadalom és gazdaság, 2005, 27. évf. 1-2. sz.

dr. Erényi István – Kelemen Csaba: Magyarország az Európai Unió tagja – kihívások és lehetőségek a magyar informatika és kommunikációs szektor számára, HTE konferencia, 2004. október 6-8.

dr. Erényi István – Kelemen Csaba: A magyar informatikai és kommunikációs szektor és az EU, eVilág, 2004. november